FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/4/2018 3:56 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

96383-5 Supreme Court No.

(Court of Appeals No. 50080-9-II)

LOWE'S HOME CENTERS, LLC

Petitioner

v.

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF LOWE'S HOME CENTERS, LLC

A. Troy Hunter WSBA # 29243 Justin P. Walsh WSBA # 40696 ISSAQUAH LAW GROUP, PLLC 410 Newport Way Northwest Suite C Issaquah, Washington 98027

Tel: (425) 313-1184

Fax: (425) 313-1858

John M. Allan

(pro hac vice application

pending)

E. Kendrick Smith

(pro hac vice application

pending)

JONES DAY

1420 Peachtree Street NE

Suite 800

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Lowe's Home Centers, LLC ("Lowe's").

II. INTRODUCTION

This is a case of first impression, involving unambiguous statutes and undisputed facts, that asks whether a seller, like Lowe's, can ever claim Washington sales tax credits and business and occupation (B&O) tax deductions for taxes it remitted on worthless private label credit card ("PLCC") accounts if the transactions were initially financed by a third party bank. Under the law, including this Court's decision in *Puget Sound National Bank v. Department of Revenue*, the mere fact that a bank initially owned and managed the PLCC accounts before they were written off does not affect whether Lowe's was entitled to a credit or deduction for taxes it remitted on the accounts after it performs on its guaranty.

RCW 82.08.037 permits a retailer to claim a credit for sales taxes it has previously remitted if its customer, on whose behalf the retailer remitted the taxes, buys goods on credit and later defaults. Similarly, RCW 82.04.4284 permits a retailer to take a bad debt deduction for B&O tax on the same basis.³ The corresponding regulation explains that such credits and

¹ Lowe's HIW, Inc. ("HIW") initially claimed the credits and deductions at issue in this Petition, but Lowe's is the successor-in-interest to HIW and party to this appeal. For ease of discussion, this Petition will use Lowe's throughout to refer to both HIW and Lowe's.

² 123 Wn.2d 284, 868 P.2d 127 (1994) (en banc) (hereinafter "Puget Sound").

³ This Petition will refer to these two statutes as the "Bad Debt Statutes". App. 48-52.

deductions "are based on federal standards for worthlessness under section 166 of the Internal Revenue Code."

In *Puget Sound*, this Court identified only three requirements a retailer must satisfy to claim a credit/deduction for bad debt losses: "(1) the seller must be a person, (2) making sales at retail, and (3) entitled to a refund for sales taxes previously paid on debts which are deductible as worthless for federal income tax purposes." 123 Wn.2d at 287. Respondent, the Washington Department of Revenue ("DOR"), concedes that Lowe's satisfied the first two requirements. DOR also acknowledges that Lowe's properly deducted the PLCC bad debts on its federal corporate income tax returns for the relevant years, pursuant to section 166 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended ("IRC"), thereby satisfying the third requirement. These conceded facts entitle Lowe's to take the corresponding Washington sales tax credits and B&O tax deductions.

DOR, however, denied Lowe's claim, contending that: (1) the PLCC financing arrangement here (the "PLCC Agreement") was identical to the arrangement at issue in *Home Depot*⁵; and (2) retailers who participate in PLCC arrangements with third party banks can never qualify for bad debt credits or deductions in Washington.

⁴ WAC 458-20-196(1)(d) (emphasis added) (the "Bad Debt Regulation"). App. 53-58.

⁵ Home Depot USA, Inc. v. State Dep't of Revenue, 151 Wn. App. 909, 215 P.3d 222 (2009) (hereinafter "Home Depot").

However, the PLCC Agreement Lowe's entered into with third-party financing companies (the "Bank") was materially different from the PLCC agreement analyzed in *Home Depot*. Under the *Home Depot* template, the seller: (1) contracts away its right to take the loss on defaulted PLCC accounts; (2) is fully paid for the purchase prices and corresponding tax; (3) bears no risk of loss; and (4) is ineligible to take PLCC bad debt deductions on its federal income tax returns under IRC § 166. In contrast, under the PLCC Agreement at issue here, Lowe's: (1) remains directly liable, as guarantor, and bears the economic loss for all bad debts arising from the PLCC accounts (up to a specified cap); (2) remits sales taxes it cannot recover from its buyers; (3) reflects the PLCC bad debt losses in its books and records; and (4) deducts, and is entitled to deduct, the losses as bad debts on its federal income tax returns under IRC § 166.

As guarantor of worthless PLCC accounts, Lowe's made payment to the Bank (including all previously-remitted taxes), thereby stood in the shoes of the original creditor, and became the sole party eligible to deduct the PLCC bad debts for federal income tax purposes. Since (1) Washington bases bad debt credits/deductions solely on "federal standards for worthlessness" under IRC § 166; and (2) the Bad Debt Statutes do not require a taxpayer to have originated and owned the account, then Lowe's was entitled, as a matter of law, to take corresponding credits/deductions.

The trial court agreed with Lowe's, but felt obliged by its reading of dicta in Home Depot to go against its inclination to go Lowe's direction:

Lowe's has a significant number of persuasive arguments in this case as to why this situation is different than the *Home Depot* situation for the reasons articulated in their briefing, particularly the plain text of the statute that appears to link this directly to the federal income tax provisions . . . What the court struggles with, however, is the *Home Depot* decision's language, which appears at the urging of the Department of Revenue in that case to have been originally focused on the issue of whether or not the bad debt could be taken as a deduction from federal income tax returns, but then goes on to use very firm language about the debt must be held or owned by the party seeking to take the state deduction or credit or whatever.

* * *

So if I were sitting *de novo* without any authority that was binding me from the Court of Appeals in *Home Depot*, I would feel much more inclined to go Lowe's direction.⁶

Likewise, the dissent in the Court of Appeals' opinion agreed with Lowe's:

Lowe's payments were made to discharge the obligation Lowe's had as the guarantor of those bad debts, and therefore under 26 C.F.R. § 1.166-9(a) those payments are treated as worthless debts for purposes of 26 U.S.C. § 166. Lowe's also met the requirements of 26 C.F.R. § 1.166-9(d). And because those guaranteed payments constitute bad debts as that term is used in 26 U.S.C. § 166, Lowe's is entitled to a sales tax credit under RCW 82.08.037(1) and a B&O tax deduction under RCW 82.04.4284(1).⁷

This Court should accept review of this Petition for two reasons:

⁶ Verbatim Report of Proceedings ("VRP") at 3:18-4:11; 4:23-5:1; 5:12-19.

⁷ Lowe's Home Ctrs., LLC v. Dep't of Revenue, ___ Wn. App. 2d ___, __ P.3d ___, 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS 2082, at *39-40, ¶88, 2018 WL 4214266 (2018) (hereinafter "Lowe's I") (Maxa, C.J., dissenting).

First, the majority's opinion conflicts with Washington law, including Puget Sound, which merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). This Court should clarify that the Bad Debt Statutes do not require retailers to initiate and own the defaulting accounts in order to claim Washington bad debt credits and deductions. Further, this Court should clarify that Home Depot does not and cannot support DOR's position that only the originator and owner of bad debt accounts, and not a guarantor, can take the credits and deductions for taxes remitted on the accounts.

Second, the Court should also accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). No Washington court decision has addressed a PLCC arrangement like the one at issue here and none has held that a seller who has guaranteed a bad debt and is entitled to a deduction under IRC § 166 is nevertheless barred from taking corresponding Washington credits and deductions for taxes previously remitted on defaulted PLCC accounts. The proper interpretation of the Bad Debt Statutes is of substantial public interest.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Lowe's seeks review of the published decision filed on September 5, 2018, by Division II of the Court of Appeals, wherein the majority affirmed the trial court's Order denying Lowe's claim. See App. 1-36.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the majority erred in concluding, contrary to *Puget*

Sound, that a retailer who guarantees worthless customer debts and ultimately bears the risk of loss for all bad debts from PLCC accounts is nevertheless ineligible to take a corresponding bad debt sales tax credit and B&O tax deduction in Washington.

- 2. Whether the majority erred in purporting to rely on *Home Depot* to hold that Lowe's can never be eligible to claim a sales tax credit or B&O tax deduction on bad debts arising from PLCC accounts it does not initiate and own.
- 3. Whether the majority erred in concluding that the Bad Debt Regulation imposes a condition that a retailer must write off as uncollectible the specific bad debt accounts in its books in order to claim corresponding sales tax credits and B&O tax deductions, and that Lowe's did not do so.
- 4. Whether the majority and dissent erred in holding the denial of Lowe's claim did not violate its constitutional equal protection rights.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

DOR rejected Lowe's claims for PLCC bad debt credits/deductions and assessed Washington sales and B&O taxes, interest, and penalties in the principal sum of \$2,218,507.63 (the "Refund Amount") for the period of April 1, 2001 through December 31, 2009 (the "Assessment Period").⁸

⁸ CP 450, 464-87 (Decl. ¶3 & Exs. A & B).

Lowe's paid this amount in full and, on February 11, 2016, filed suit, seeking to recover the Refund Amount, plus interest.⁹

On February 10, 2017, the trial court conducted a hearing on the parties' cross motions for summary judgment, during which it concluded there was no genuine issue of material fact and its decision was controlled by its reading of language in *Home Depot* that it suggested may have been *dicta*. On March 3, 2017, the trial court entered an Order denying Lowe's motion and granting DOR summary judgment. 11

Lowe's appealed the decision. On September 5, 2018, the Court of Appeals issued an opinion wherein the majority affirmed the trial court. The majority erroneously held that, even though the bad debts for which Lowe's made guarantee payments included Washington sales and B&O taxes, Lowe's was still not entitled to a refund of the remitted taxes. The majority purported to rely on *Home Depot* as grounds for imposing an extra-statutory requirement that Lowe's must have initiated the financing and owned the PLCC accounts when they became worthless in order to claim bad debt credits and deductions. *Id.* It further erred in ruling the Bad Debt Regulation imposes a condition that Lowe's write off as uncollectible the specific

⁹ CP 450-51 (Decl. ¶4).

¹⁰ CP 1154-55 (Notice of Hearing); VRP at 3:15-5:1; 29:20-25.

¹¹ CP 2800-02 (Order).

¹² See generally, Lowe's I, 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS 2082.

PLCC accounts and that Lowe's did not do so.¹³ Finally, the court held that the denial of Lowe's claim did not violate its equal protection rights. *Id.* at ¶¶68-78. The Chief Judge dissented but agreed with the majority's constitutional analysis.¹⁴

B. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Lowe's owns and operates retail stores in Washington.¹⁵ Prior to the Assessment Period, Lowe's executed the PLCC Agreement, which provided that the Bank would, in certain circumstances, extend credit to customers to make purchases at Lowe's stores. Lowe's entered into this arrangement in the ordinary course of business.¹⁶

A customer seeking to buy items from Lowe's could submit an application with the Bank at any Lowe's store. If the Bank approved the application, it granted the customer a line of credit that could be used to buy items at Lowe's. Within a day or two after the transaction, the Bank would forward to Lowe's full payment for the purchases and corresponding taxes. Lowe's, as the retailer, would promptly remit Washington sales and B&O tax on the PLCC transactions in the state.¹⁷

¹³ It is undisputed that Lowe's wrote off in its books and records the losses it bore in paying the Bank on the defaulted PLCC accounts. Lowe's, however, did not own the specific accounts, and therefore could not reflect them in its books and records. As a matter of tax and accounting law, the distinction is irrelevant. Blasi Dep. 31:14-32:9 (App. 44).

¹⁴ Lowe's I, 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS at *37-44, ¶80-98, & *37, n.12.

¹⁵ CP 450-51 (Decl. ¶¶2, 6).

¹⁶ CP 451-52, 488-844 (Decl. ¶¶7-9 & Exs. C-F).

¹⁷ CP 453 (Decl. ¶10).

After Lowe's remitted tax on the purchases, some Cardholders failed to pay in full, resulting in bad debt losses ("PLCC Bad Debts"). Though the Bank initiated and technically owned and managed the accounts while they were current, the PLCC Agreement required Lowe's to assume responsibility (on a dollar-for-dollar basis) for all PLCC Bad Debts up to a specified cap (the "Cap"). In other words, Lowe's guaranteed that the Bank would receive all payments due on PLCC accounts, up to the Cap (the "Bad Debt Guarantee"). ¹⁸ Thus, Lowe's "steps into the creditor's shoes" with respect to these accounts. ¹⁹ When recoveries were made on PLCC accounts that had been written off as worthless, the proceeds went to Lowe's, not the Bank. ²⁰ Lowe's added these sales back and reported sales taxes thereon. The benefits Lowe's received by entering into the PLCC Agreement provided reasonable consideration for assuming the Bad Debt Guarantee. ²¹

In honoring the Bad Debt Guarantee, Lowe's paid the Bank the full unpaid balances due on the written-off PLCC accounts, which included any related taxes that Lowe's had previously remitted to DOR. Consequently, with respect to PLCC Bad Debts, Lowe's had remitted taxes that it could

¹⁸ CP 453 (Decl. ¶10, 11). Lowe's was subject to recourse on all PLCC Bad Debts, except for certain amounts that ran over the Cap during 2008 and 2009. CP 455 (Decl. ¶15). Lowe's did not claim bad debt credits or deductions for amounts exceeding the Cap.

¹⁹ Putnam v. Comm'r, 352 U.S. 82, 85, 77 S. Ct. 175, 176, 1 L. Ed. 2d 144 (1956).

²⁰ CP 454-55 (Decl. ¶¶13-14).

²¹ CP 454 (Decl. ¶12).

not recover from its customers. Thus, Lowe's, not the Bank, was the party who had advanced and was out of pocket as to sales and B&O taxes paid on the worthless PLCC transactions.²² The PLCC Agreement explicitly gave Lowe's the right to take corresponding credits and deductions for the resulting losses at both the federal and state levels.²³ Significantly, Lowe's books and records reflected all PLCC Bad Debt losses that it had incurred.²⁴

Throughout the Assessment Period, Lowe's filed consolidated federal corporate income tax returns ("Federal Returns"). Pursuant to IRC § 166, Lowe's deducted the PLCC Bad Debts, along with its other bad debts, as "Bad Debts" on Line 15 of the returns. The Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") regularly audited the Federal Returns and, for tax years 2004 through 2007, focused on the bad debt deductions claimed on Line 15, including the PLCC arrangement with the Bank. The IRS ultimately accepted and proposed no adjustments to the PLCC Bad Debts claimed by Lowe's. Lowe's timely claimed corresponding Washington sales tax credits and B&O tax deductions on the principal amounts of the written-off PLCC Bad Debts. 27

²² CP 2668 (Decl. ¶2).

²³ CP 454, 523, 613, 696, 782 (Decl. ¶13 & Exs. C-F); 1137-38 (Decl. ¶12).

²⁴ CP 455 (Decl. ¶16).

²⁵ CP 455-57, 845-98 (Decl. ¶17-18 & Exs. G-1 to G-9).

²⁶ CP 457-59 (Decl. ¶¶19-25).

²⁷ CP 459 (Decl. ¶¶26-27).

VI. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. This Court Should Grant Review to Correct the Majority's Decision which (1) Misreads and Misapplies the Bad Debt Statutes and Bad Debt Regulation and (2) Conflicts with *Puget Sound*

As the dissent states, "the majority unnecessarily complicates what should be a straightforward analysis"; the Bad Debt Statutes "unambiguously show that [Lowe's] is entitled to retail sales tax credits and [B&O] tax deductions."²⁸ In affirming the trial court, the majority misread and misapplied the Bad Debt Statutes and the Bad Debt Regulation.

1. The Requirements Under Washington Law

During the Assessment Period, RCW 82.08.037(1) clearly provided:

A seller is entitled to a credit or refund for sales taxes previously paid on bad debts, as that term is used [for federal income tax purposes] in 26 U.S.C. Sec. 166.

RCW 82.04.4284(1) permits a similar deduction for B&O tax:

In computing tax there may be deducted from the measure of tax bad debts, as that term is used in 26 U.S.C. Sec. 166... on which tax was previously paid.

The Bad Debt Regulation clarifies that, for both taxes, "Washington credits, refunds, and deductions for bad debts are based on federal standards for worthlessness under section 166 of the Internal Revenue Code." No other standard is specified.

²⁸ Lowe's I, 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS at *37, ¶80.

²⁹ WAC 458-20-196(1)(d) (emphasis added).

Thus, under the Bad Debt Statutes in effect throughout the Assessment Period, Washington looked exclusively to federal law and standards relating to bad debt losses under IRC § 166, along with TREAS. REG. § 1.166-9, to determine whether a retailer, like Lowe's, was eligible to claim a sales tax credit or B&O tax deduction for taxes previously paid on bad debts. Except for a timing requirement that the credit be taken in "the tax reporting period in which the bad debt is written off as uncollectible" and "would be eligible for a bad debt deduction for federal income tax purposes," WAC 458-20-196(2), neither the Bad Debt Statutes nor Bad Debt Regulation imposed any additional conditions or restrictions on a seller's right to claim a credit or deduction for tax paid on bad debts.

Puget Sound controlled throughout the Assessment Period. The majority acknowledged that, in Puget Sound, this Court identified only three requirements a retailer must satisfy to take a bad debt credit/deduction: "(1) the seller must be a person, (2) making sales at retail, and (3) entitled to a refund for sales taxes previously paid on debts which are deductible as worthless for federal income tax purposes." Significantly, this Court did not even suggest that the taxpayer must have also initiated the financing and

³⁰ Lowe's I, 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS at *8, ¶19. When the Washington Legislature amended RCW 82.08.037, effective July 1, 2004, it did so while expressly preserving the requirements established in *Puget Sound*. 2004 Wash. Legis. Serv. Ch. 153 (S.B. 6515), § 301 (CP 1269 (Decl. at Ex. C)).

then owned the account when it became worthless.

2. Lowe's Satisfied the Puget Sound Requirements

Lowe's plainly satisfies the first two requirements of *Puget Sound*:

(1) it is a "person",³¹ and (2) it made taxable retail sales in Washington.³²

Further, there is no dispute that Lowe's Bad Debt Guarantee payments were "deductible as worthless for federal income tax purposes": "[T]he DOR agrees that [Lowe's Bad Debt Guarantee payments] qualified as federal debts arising from a *guarantor loss* under 26 C.F.R. § 1.166-9(a)." ³³

However, DOR argued and the majority erred in agreeing that Lowe's payments were not debts on "sales taxes previously paid." ³⁴

The majority's focus on language in the Bad Debt Statutes that a credit/deduction is allowed for taxes "previously paid" as grounds for denying Lowe's claim is at odds with this Court's reasoning in *Puget Sound*. Specifically, *Puget Sound* confirmed that a person (in that case a bank) who

³¹ A "person" is defined to include a corporation. RCW 82.04.030, 82.08.010(6).

³² See CP 1255 (Decl. at Ex. B (Barrett Dep. at 58:13-25; 59:17-22)).

standards (IRC § 166 and TREAS. REG. § 1.166-9) to which the Bad Debt Statutes are tied, a guarantor of a worthless debt, who neither initiated the account nor owned it when it defaulted, is still entitled to claim a bad debt deduction. See CP 1235 (Decl. at Ex. A (Jones Dep. at 86:1-25)). By its express terms, TREAS. REG. § 1.166-9(d) allows bad debt deductions to be claimed by "a guarantor, endorser, or indemnitor" – persons who neither initiated nor owned the accounts when they became worthless. See also Putnam, 352 U.S. at 85-86 (acknowledging the right of guarantors to deduct, as bad debts, payments made to creditors in satisfaction of their guaranties) (CP 1284 (Smith Decl. at Ex. F)).

The IRS itself verified that Lowe's PLCC Bad Debts met the federal standards for deductibility. The trial court expressly acknowledged that Lowe's Federal Returns were "audited and have been found to be satisfactory." VRP at 3:18-4:2.

³⁴ Lowe's I, 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS at *13, ¶30.

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