FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/15/2018 11:25 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 96383-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LOWE'S HOME CENTERS, LLC,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Rosann Fitzpatrick, WSBA #37092 Assistant Attorney General Revenue Division, OID No. 91027 P.O. Box 40123 Olympia, WA 98504 (360) 753-5528

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

IV. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Consistent with the Plain Meaning of the Bad Debt Tax Credit and Deduction Statutes, as well as Established Case Law

RCW 82.08.037 allows a seller that incurred a credit loss on a

retail sale to recover the sales taxes it advanced on behalf of the buyer. The

version of the statute in effect for the tax period at issue provided, in part:

(1) A seller is entitled to a credit or refund *for sales taxes previously paid on bad debts*, as that term is used in 26 U.S.C. Sec. 166, as amended or renumbered as of January 1, 2003.

RCW 82.04.4284 provides a similar B&O tax deduction:

(1) In computing [B&O] tax there may be deducted from the measure of the tax bad debts, as that term is used in 26 U.S.C. Sec. 166... on which tax was previously paid.

Bad debts, "as that term is used" for federal income tax purposes,

are "worthless debts" that are "owed to the taxpayer." 26 C.F.R. § 1.166-

1(a) (emphasis added). The debt obligation must be "bona fide," meaning

it represents an amount the taxpayer previously reported as income and

remains legally entitled to collect, which proved uncollectible and was

charged off as worthless on the taxpayer's books. Id. at (c), (e). Bad debts

from unpaid fees or unrealized profits do not qualify. Id.

1. The Court of Appeals correctly applied the relevant statutes and tax regulation

The Court of Appeals correctly rejected the argument that Lowe's' contractual payments to the Bank qualify as bad debts on which taxes

were "previously paid" within the meaning of RCW 82.08.037 and RCW 82.04.4284. *Lowe*'s, 425 P.3d at 967. Sales taxes and retailing B&O taxes are "paid on" the "selling price," which is the contractual consideration the buyer owes to the seller in exchange for the goods sold. RCW 82.08.010(1)(a). Thus, the "bad debts" referred to in these statutes are amounts the seller previously reported as taxable sale proceeds that proved uncollectible and were written off the seller's books and records. Absent an unpaid debt owed by the buyer to the seller on a retail sale, a seller is not entitled to a sales tax or retailing B&O tax refund for bad debts.

Lowe's remitted sales taxes and paid retailing B&O taxes on sale proceeds it actually received, not on bad debts. The cardholder's failure to repay the Bank that loaned it the funds used to purchase goods had no impact on Lowe's' right to receive (and to retain) the entire sale proceeds owed by the buyer on a retail sale. In fact, Lowe's accounted for the private label credit card transactions as "cash or cash equivalents," the same as if the customer paid by cash, check, or any other bank-issued credit card. CP 60. Lowe's made no entry on its books or records to reverse the amount of retailing revenues it had collected from the buyer when a cardholder defaulted on its credit card debt. CP 52, 113, 945.

The amounts Lowe's purportedly "paid" in reimbursement of the Bank's bad debt losses (which, in substance, were amounts the Bank paid

itself by subtracting its own bad debt write-offs from its own accounts receivables in calculating the amount the Bank paid to Lowe's under their profit-sharing agreement), were not "bad debts" on which sales taxes and B&O taxes were previously paid within the meaning of RCW 82.08.037 and RCW 82.04.4284, respectively. Rather, as the Court of Appeals correctly stated, "Lowe's profit-sharing bad debt resulted from the bargained-for profit-sharing agreements and not debts on sales tax owed to Lowe's on a retail sales transaction." *Lowe's*, 425 P.3d at 967.

The Court of Appeals also correctly held that Lowe's did not satisfy the requirement of the pertinent tax regulation that the bad debts for which a taxpayer claims a credit or deduction must be "written off as uncollectible in the taxpayer's books and records." *Lowe's*, 425 P.3d at 972 (discussing WAC 458-20-196(2)(a)). Lowe's contends the tax regulation imposes an "extra-statutory requirement" in requiring that the seller, itself, wrote off the bad debt. Pet. for Rev. at 16.

The tax regulation mirrors the model bad debt rules of the multistate Streamlined Sales and Use Tax Agreement (SSUTA), as mandated by the Legislature. RCW 82.02.210(3) (requiring that the sales and use tax laws "be interpreted and applied consistently with the [SSUTA]"). The SSUTA provides, in part, that member states must allow a sales tax deduction when a bad debt is "*written off as uncollectable in the*

claimant's books and records and is eligible to be deducted for federal income tax purposes." SSUTA, § 320.C (emphasis added).¹

The write-off requirement in the tax regulation and the SSUTA model rule give effect to the plain meaning of the bad debt statute, which applies to "bad debts as that term is used in Section 166." For federal income tax purposes, a "bad debt" is an amount arising from a debtorcreditor relationship that was previously reported as income, which proved uncollectible and was charged off the taxpayer's books and records. 26 C.F.R. § 1.166-1(a). The write-off is "the essence of the bad debt deduction." *In re Hoffman*, 16 F. Supp. 391, 393 (E.D. Pa. 1936). *See* 26 C.F.R. § 1.166-2 (debt is "worthless," and, thus, deductible, when it is "charged off" the taxpayer's books).

It is undisputed that the Bank, not Lowe's, is the person that wrote off the unpaid credit card debt obligations. CP 945. Because Lowe's did not own the accounts receivables from the private label credit card accounts, it had nothing to write off as uncollectible when a cardholder defaulted. Whatever entries Lowe's made to reflect its so-called "Bad Debt Guarantee" were not for sale proceeds Lowe's was entitled to collect

¹ See Section 320.C of the Streamlined Sales and Use Tax Agreement, Adopted November 12, 2002 and amended through May 11, 2017, at <u>http://www.streamlinedsalestax.org/uploads/downloads/Archive/SSUTA/SSUTA%20As</u> %20Amended%202017-5-11.pdf.

from the buyer. As the Court of Appeals explained: "There is no bad debt from the sale. Instead, as discussed above, Lowe's bad debts resulted from its role as a guarantor-creditor rather than a seller, and Lowe's guarantor bad debts under 26 C.F.R. § 1.166-9(a) are not 'directly attributable' to a retail sale." *Lowe's*, 425 P.3d at 969.

The Court of Appeals correctly interpreted and applied WAC 458-20-196(2)(a), holding that the amounts Lowe's paid to cover the Bank's bad debts were not "written off as uncollectible" in Lowe's' books and records and, thus, did not provide the basis for a bad debt refund under RCW 82.08.037, RCW 82.04.4284, and WAC 458-20-196(2)(a).

2. The Court of Appeals' decision is entirely consistent with *Puget Sound*

The Court of Appeals' decision is entirely consistent with *Puget Sound*, this Court's only decision addressing RCW 82.08.037. *Puget Sound*, 123 Wn.2d 284. The Court of Appeals was correct that under *Puget Sound's* rationale, a seller, and not a third party lender, must have sold goods on credit and incurred a bad debt loss on a retail sale in order to qualify for a sales tax refund on bad debts. *Lowe's*, 425 P.3d at 968.

Puget Sound involved an automobile dealer that sold vehicles to its customers through installment sales contracts. A bank acquired the dealer's unpaid consumer debt obligations by a contract of assignment.

When the customers later defaulted on their payment obligations, the bank filed a sales tax refund claim under RCW 82.08.037 for its bad debt losses. The issue was whether the bank could claim a sales tax refund on the defaulted credit accounts.

This Court observed that RCW 82.08.037 applies only to credit losses incurred by a "seller" that engages in "making sales at retail." *Puget Sound*, 123 Wn.2d at 287-88. But this Court held that the bank had "stepped into the shoes" of the seller by virtue of the contract of assignment, and it thereby assumed the rights and liabilities associated with the installment sale contracts, including the seller's right to recover the sales taxes it had advanced on the buyer's behalf. *Id.* at 293.

According to Lowe's, *Puget Sound* stands for the proposition that its right to a sales tax refund turns solely on whether it was eligible to take a bad debt deduction on its federal tax returns for its "guaranty payments" to the Bank. Pet. for Rev. at 13. But under *Puget Sound*, the requisite basis for a sales tax refund is an unpaid debt obligation *originated by a seller*. If that were not the case, there would have been no need for this Court to analyze whether the Bank qualified as the "seller" that had made the credit sale giving rise to a deductible bad debt.

But this Court recognized that a bank ordinarily cannot claim a sales tax refund for its bad debt losses on consumer loans. The bank

qualified only because it assumed the status of the "seller" that extended credit to the retail buyer. *Puget Sound*, 123 Wn.2d at 293. As the seller's assignee, the bank was entitled to the sales tax refund the seller could have claimed if it had maintained *ownership* of the unpaid debt obligations. *Id.* at 290 ("[I]f the dealers had not assigned their installment contracts to the Bank, the dealers would have been entitled to a sales tax refund[.]").

The crux of Lowe's' reliance on *Puget Sound* is that it "stepped into the Bank's shoes" by reimbursing the Bank for its bad debt losses on the private label credit accounts. Pet. for Rev. at 9, 18. But RCW 82.08.037 does not apply to consumer loans originated by banks (which is why the bank in *Puget Sound* could only qualify by stepping into the shoes of a "seller" that extended credit to the buyer). *See Puget Sound*, 123 Wn.2d at 287-88 ("In order for the Bank . . . to be eligible for a sales tax refund, the assignment of the installment contracts must satisfy the 'making sales at retail' requirement."). The Legislature has not seen fit to authorize a sales tax refund for banks that assume the risk of bad debt losses as an ordinary part of the business of consumer lending.

The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Lowe's' flawed rationale for extending the scope of the bad debt sales tax credit far beyond the factual circumstances addressed in *Puget Sound*. It is well-established that statutory tax credits and deductions may not be extended by implication.

TracFone Wireless, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 170 Wn.2d 273, 296-97, 242 P.3d 810 (2010). To qualify, a taxpayer must demonstrate that it clearly comes within the scope of a tax exemption. *Id.* Lowe's does not satisfy this requirement because it did not incur bad debts on its retail sales.

3. The Court of Appeals properly followed its prior decision in *Home Depot*

In holding that a seller must have a bad debt "directly attributable" to a retail sale to qualify for a sales tax refund under RCW 82.08.037, the Court of Appeals properly followed its previous decision in *Home Depot v. Dep't of Revenue*, 151 Wn. App. 909, 215 P.3d 222 (2009), *review denied*, 168 Wn.2d 1008 (2010), and did not create a conflict with that case. *Lowe's*, 425 P.3d at 969. In *Home Depot*, the court held that a retailer was not entitled to a sales tax refund under RCW 82.08.037 on bad debts from private label credit accounts financed and owned by the General Electric Capital Corporation (GE Capital).

Like Lowe's, Home Depot had contracted with GE Capital to establish a private label credit card program. GE Capital was the exclusive owner of the accounts, controlled the credit terms and conditions, bore the risk of all credit losses, and took bad debt deductions on its federal income tax return on defaulted credit accounts. *Id.* at 913. GE Capital paid Home Depot the sale proceeds on a daily basis, minus service fees. The service fees were calculated to cover GE Capital's bad debt losses and other expenses, and were based on an economic analysis of the anticipated revenues and expenses related to the private label credit cards. *Id.* at 914.

The *Home Depot* court correctly held that RCW 82.08.037 impliedly requires the person claiming a sales tax refund to be "the one holding the bad debt as well as the one to whom repayment on such a debt would be made." *Id.* at 922. The *Home Depot* court further held that Home Depot could not qualify for a sales tax refund by showing it "actually bore the loss" on defaulted credit accounts by making contractual payments that covered GE Capital's bad debt losses. *Home Depot*, 151 Wn. App. at 923. RCW 82.08.037 applies only to bad debts "directly attributable to" a retail sale. *Id.* at 922. The court reasoned that allowing sellers to recover sales taxes based on bad debts resulting in indirect economic harm would contravene the clear legislative intent to disallow reductions in the sales tax base for a seller's costs of doing business. *Id.* at 923-24.

Lowe's tried to distinguish *Home Depot* on the ground that, unlike Home Depot, which paid "service fees" to the Bank and deducted the payments as ordinary expenses on its federal tax returns, Lowe's deducted its purported "guaranty payments" to the Bank as bad debt expenses.

The Court of Appeals correctly reasoned that whatever bad debt expenses Lowe's incurred under its profit-sharing agreement were no

more "directly attributable to" its retail sales than were the service fees paid by Home Depot. *Lowe's*, 425 P.3d at 970. Like the service fees, Lowe's' "guaranty payments" were in exchange for valuable services it received from the Bank, and, thus, not equivalent to the uncompensated losses of a seller that paid taxes on sale proceeds it never received.

In sum, Lowe's' petition for review does not identify any real conflict with existing law. Rather, Lowe's seeks review in order to advocate for a liberal interpretation of the bad debt tax credit and deduction statutes.

B. Lowe's' Petition for Review Does Not Raise an Issue of Substantial Public Interest Meriting Review by this Court

Lowe's asserts that its petition for review raises an issue of substantial public interest because unless the Court of Appeals' decision is reversed, retailers in Washington "can never claim sales tax credits or B&O tax deductions" on defaulted private label credit card accounts originated and owned by third party lenders. Pet. for Rev. at 17. But this Court already has construed RCW 82.08.037 as requiring that a "seller" be the person that extended credit to the retail buyer in order to qualify for a bad debt sales tax credit or refund. *See Puget Sound*, 123 Wn.2d 284.

According to Lowe's, no Washington court "has addressed a PLCC arrangement like the one at issue here." Pet. for Rev. at 5. However,

variations in the terms and conditions of Lowe's' contractual agreement with the financial institutions that provided credit to its customers are immaterial. Lowe's' bad debt refund claim is foreclosed by the undisputed fact that it actually received the entire sale proceeds it was entitled to collect from the buyer on its retail sales. Lowe's was free to share in the profits and losses of the Bank's credit card operations, but it was not free to claim sales tax credits and B&O tax deductions on retail sales for which it was paid in full.

The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with appellate decisions from other SSUTA member states that have addressed similar variations on what Lowe's calls the "*Home Depot* template." Pet. for Rev. at 3. *See Citibank (South Dakota), N.A. v. Dep't of Taxes*, 202 Vt. 296, 149 A.3d 149, 155 (Vt. 2016) ("the overwhelming majority of courts in similar cases involving similar statutes have held that third-party bad debt does not entitle the retailer or creditor to reclaim the sales tax"); *Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. Roberts,* No. M201402567COAR3CV, 2016 WL 2866141, at *9 (Tenn. Ct. App. May 11, 2016), *application for permission to appeal denied* (Tenn. Sept. 23, 2016) ("The risk that the private label credit card program will be less profitable than anticipated does not qualify as a bad debt."). Lowe's fails to identify any contrary appellate authority. The availability and scope of a tax exemption or deduction is purely a matter of legislative grace. *Home Depot USA, Inc. v. Levin*, 121 Ohio St.3d 482, 905 N.E.2d 630, 635 (Ohio 2009). Whether RCW 82.08.037 should be extended to retailers like Lowe's, with respect to bad debts incurred by a third party lender, is a question of tax policy for our Legislature, not an issue of substantial public interest warranting review by this Court.

At the behest of national retailers and financial institutions, several state legislatures have enacted legislation authorizing sales tax refunds on defaulted private label credit card accounts. *See, e.g.*, Wis. Stat. § 77.585 (July 2, 2013); Mich. Comp. Laws § 205.54i (October 1, 2007); Texas Tax Code 151.246(c) (Oct. 1, 1999). But the Department is not aware of any appellate court in the country that has construed a statute similar to Washington's to reach this result.

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